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L OVERVIEW

1. TS Investment Holding Corp. (“TS Holding™), a U.S.-based, privately-
owned corporation, and its subsidiary Twin-Star International, Inc. (“Twin-Star”), a U.S.-
based, privately-owned corporation (collectively “Complainants”), file this Complaint,
along with Complainants’ Statement of Public Interest pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.08(b),
to remedy violations of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. §
1337 (“Section 337" or “§ 337”), arising from (a) the misappropriation of certain Twin-
Star trade secrets by three newcomers to the electric fireplace products business, a
Chinese company, Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Reliap”), an individual Chinese
citizen, Yue Qiu Sheng, a.k.a. Jason Yue, (“Yue”), and a California corporation, Whalen
Furniture Manufacturing Inc. (“Whalen,” collectively “Propésed Respondents”); (b) the
infringement of Twin-Star’s registered copyrights by the Proposed Respondents; (c)‘
breach of contract by Yue; and (d) the tortious interference with Twin-Star’s contractual

relations by Reliap and Whalen.

II. INTRODUCTION

2. Proposed Respondents have violated and are violating Section 337 by
engaging in unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in connection with the
importation of articles into the United States, the sale of articles for importation into the
United States, and/or the sale of articles within the United States after importation.

3. The articles at issue are certain electric fireplace products that Reliap has
manufactured and is manufacturing in China, and that the Proposed Respondents have
imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States and/or have

sold within the United States after importation (the “Reliap Electric Fireplaces”).



4. The unfair methods of competition and unfair acts at issue include the
Proposed Respondents’ actual and threatened misappropriation of Twin-Star’s trade
secrets in violation of Section 337 with such misappropriation including (a) unauthorized
acquisition of one or more of Twin-Star’s trade secrets, (b) unauthorized disclosure of
one or more of Twin-Star’s trade secrets to manufacture, or in connection with
manufacturing of, Reliap Electric Fireplaces, (c) unauthorized use of one or more Qf
Twin-Star’s trade secrets by the Proposed Respondents in connection with manufacturing
Reliap Electric Fireplaces, (d) unauthorized use of one or more of Twin—Star’s trade
secrets by the Proposed Respondents in connection with marketing Reliap Electric
Fireplaces within the United States, (e) unauthorized use of one or more of Twin-Star’s
trade secrets by the Proposed Respondents in connection with offering for sale Reliap
Electric Fireplaces within the United States, (f) unauthorized use of one or more of Twin-
Star’s trade secrets by the Proposed Respondents in connection with importing Reliap
Electric Fireplaces into the United States, selling Reliap Electric Fireplaces for
importation into the United States, and/or selling Reliap Electric Fireplaces within the
United States after importation, and (g) unauthorized use of one or more of Twin-Star’s
trade secrets by the Proposed Respondents in connection with distributing Reliap Electric
Fireplaces within the United States.

| 5. The unfair methods of competition and unfair acts at issue include the
Proposed Respondents’ infringement of Twin-Star’s registered copyrights in violation
of Section 337.
6. The unfair methods of competition and unfair acts at issue include breach

of contract by Yue.



7. The unfair methods of competition and unfair acts at issue include the
tortious interference with Twin-Star’s contractual relations by Reliap and Whalen.

8. As required by Section 337(a)(1)(A), a domestic industry exists that is the
target of the Proposed Respondents’ unfair acts.

9. As required by Section 337(a)(2) and defined in Section 337(a)(3), an
industry in the United States exists relating to articles covered by Twin-Star’s registered
copyrights.

10. Complainants seek an exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d),
excluding from entry into and sale within the United States (a) all Reliap Electric
Fireplaces actually or threateningly manufactured by, through or with one or more of
Twin-Star’s trade secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (b) all Reliap
Electric Fireplaces sold by or through the use of one or more of Twin-Star’s trade secrets
without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (c) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces and
corresponding Reliap and/or Whalen manuals that infringe Twin-Star’s registered
| copyrights; (d) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that are manufactured, imported, and sold as
a result of Yue’s breach of contract; (e) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that are
manufactured, imported and sold as a result of Reliap and/or Whalen’s tortious
interference with Twin-Star’s contractual relations; and (f) all components of the
foregoing Reliap Electric Fireplaces and products to or of which any of the foregoing
Reliap Electric Fireplaces are attached, mounted, or a part.

11. Complainants seck a cease and desist order, pursuant to § 337(f), directing
the Proposed Respondents to cease and desist from marketing and offering for sale within

the United States, importing into the United States, and selling, advertising, promoting,



shipping, distributing, warehousing, or otherwise transferring within the United States (a)
all Reliap Electric Fireplaces actually or threateningly manufactured by, through, or with
one or more of the Twin-Star’s trade secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization;
(b) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces sold by or through the use of one or more of Twin-Star’s
trade secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (c) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces
and corresponding Reliap and/or Whalen manuals that infringe Twin-Star’s registered
copyrights; (d) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that are manufactured, imported, and sold as
a result of Yue’s breach of contract; (e) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that are
manufactured, imported and sold as a result of Reliap and/or Whalen’s tortious
interference with Twin-Star’s contractual relations;; and (f) all components of the
foregoing Reliap Electric Fireplaces and products to or of which any of the foregoing

Reliap Electric Fireplaces are attached, mounted, or a part.

III. COMPLAINANTS

12.  Twin-Star International, Inc. is a corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of Florida and has a principal place of business at 1690 South
Congress Avenue, Suite 210, Delray Beach, Florida 33445. Twin-Star has been and is a
diversified manufacturer of high-quality home furniéhing products, including electric
fireplace products. Electric fireplace products include electric fireplaces and electric
fireplace inserts.

13.  For more than ten years, Twin-Star has been and is in the business of,
among other things, (a) researching, developing, designing, engineering, and
commercially implementing innovative processes to manufacture, or relating to the

manufacture of, electric fireplace products; (b) researching, developing, designing,



engineering, manufacturing, marketing, offering for sale, and selling innovative electric
fireplace products; and (c) exploiting, through use, and licensing in and from the United
States, intellectual property embodied in or relating to those processes or electric
fireplace products.

14.  Twin-Star creates original kinetic sculptures that capture the look and feel
of fireplaces. These sculptures include realistic-looking features, such as log sets, ember
beds, grates, flames, and the like. The sculptures provide the benefit of a fireplace and
the aesthetic of warmth and coziness to homes, businesses, restaurants, and other
locations without the hassle and maintenance issues associated with traditional fireplaces.
Twin-Star’s sculptures are sold as part of integrated furniture including ornate wooden
mantles and hearths, or alone as self-contained fireplace inserts for use with or without
mantles.

15.  Since 2001, Twin-Star has advertised and promoted its producfs, including
its original fireplace sculptures, through print and electronic catalogs and manuals
bearing photos and drawings of the sculptures. These sculptures are promoted and
distributed nationally, online and at trade shows, to retail customers, who sell them to the
public. Additional information about Twin-Star can be obtained from Twin-Star’s
website (http://www.twinstarhome.con/).

16.  Through significant investments of time, money and effort, Twin-Star
owns the electric fireplace products manufacturing and related processes known as the
“Twin-Star Technology” and intellectual property embodied in or relating to the Twin-

Star Technology.



17.  The Twin-Star Technology includes trade secrets (the “Twin-Star Trade
Secrets”) and registered copyrights (the “Twin-Star Copyrights™).

18.  The Twin-Star Copyrights comprise, among other things, federal
registrations for Twin-Star’s proprietary operating manuals and the ornamental features
relating to the Twin-Star Technology.

19.  The Twin-Star Technology allows Twin-Star to provide electric fireplace
products that have been the subject of tremendous commercial success, resulting in Twin-
Star’s establishment as North America’s largest manufacturer and seller of electric
fireplace products.

20.  The Twin-Star Trade Secrets (a) are or relate to innovative electric
fireplace product manufacturing processes and/or innovative materials and parts used
therein; (b) include retail customer lists, supplier lists, and business contacts that have
been developed over many years; and (¢) include specifications and tolerances relating to
the Twin-Star Technology, including electric fireplace products.

21.  Twin-Star has used and is using the Twin-Star Technology, including the
Twin-Star Trade Secrets, to manufacture electric fireplace products in China.

22. A true and accurate copy of a rendering of a representative Twin-Star
electric fireplace is attached as Exhibit 1.

23. TS Investment Holding Corp. is a corporation organized and existing
under the laws of Delaware and has a principal place of business at 2665 South Bayshore
Drive, 8th Floor, Miami, Florida 33133. TS Holding is a holding company with several

subsidiaries, including Twin-Star, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary.



IV.  PROPOSED RESPONDENTS

24.  On information and belief, Jason Yue is a Chinese Citizen residing at
Room #507, Building 3, Bang Dao Yuang, Bu Ji Town, Shenzhen City, China 518112.

25.  On December 13, 2003, Yue became an employee of Twin-Star Asia,
which was at that time, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Twin-Star International, Inc.

26.  In 2007, Yue became an employee of Twin-Star (Dongguan) Trading, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Twin-Star International, Inc.

27.  Onor about June 7, 2007, Yue signed a Subscription and Stockholders’
Agreement (“SSA”) with TS Investment Holding Corp. and certain Trivest Investors,
thereby becoming a shareholder in TS Holding. A copy of the SSA is attached as
Confidential Exhibit 2.

28.  Section 9 of the SSA included a nondisclosure clause and a
noncompetition clause, whereby Yue agreed to keep all of Complainants’ property and
information in trust and in strict confidence throughout his employment and at all times
thereafter.

29.  Asan employee of Twin-Star since December 12, 2003 and shareholder of
TS Holding since July 7, 2007, Yue was directly involved in the development and
manufacturing process of Twin-Star kinetic sculptures. Further, he had access to Twin-
Star’s confidential information, including electronic files and documents concerning the
creation of such kinetic sculptures, and Twin-Star’s product manuals and various editions
and copies thereof. Yue also had access to (a) Twin-Star’s confidential retail customer
lists and product manufacturing specifications, (b) Twin-Star’s confidential information

relating to suppliers of components to Twin-Star’s electric fireplace products, and (c)



Twin-Star’s confidential cost information assigned to retail, manufacturing and
componentry and the sales prices provided to Twin-Stars customers.

30. On information and belief, Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd. is a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the People’s Republic of China, is
registered in Shenzhen, China, and has a legal address of No. 3 Chuangye Road, Baoan
District, Shenzhen, China.

31. On information and belief, unbeknownst to Twin-Star, Reliap was
registered in Shenzhen, China on January 6,.2010 on behalf of Yue while he was still
employed by Twin-Star and a shareholder of TS Holding.

32. On March 12, 2010, Yue provided notice of his resignation from Twin-
Star. A true and correct copy of this email is attached as Confidential Exhibit 3.

33.  Shortly thereafter, on or about May 31, 2010, Yue left Twin-Star to work

. with Reliap, a direct competitor of Twin-Star, manufacturing and distributing electric
fireplace products and marketing and selling them to the same retail customers as Twin-
Star.

34.  On information and belief, construction of Reliap’s electric fireplace
products manufacturing facility (the “Reliap facility”’) may have begun as early as
January 2010.

35. On information and belief, Reliap began commercially producing electric
fireplace products at the Reliap facility in June 2010.

36.  Reliap is now in the business of manufacturing electric fireplace products.

37.  Oninformation and belief, Reliap is in the business of exporting,

importing into the United States, and selling within the United States electric fireplace



products (“Reliap Electric Fireplaces™), including copies of Twin-Star’s electric fireplace
products and operating manuals.

38. On information and belief, Whalen is incorporated in California, having a

- principal place of business at 1578 Air Wing Road, San Diego, California 92154.

39. On information and belief, Whalen imports, distributes, sells, and offers
for sale furniture products. Whalen has copied (or induced others to copy for Whalen),
reproduced (or induced others to reproduce for Whalen), imported, distributed, sold,
offered for sale, and/or publicly displayed Twin-Star’s copyrighted sculptures and
manuals without authorization, and these actions are continuing.

40. For example, on information and belief, no later than August 2010,
Whalen began importing the Reliap Electric Fireplaces intQ the United States and was
showing a prototype of the Reliap Electric Fireplacés in a showroom in Las Vegas,
Nevada.

41. In addition, on information and belief, Whalen maintains a website that offers
[its infringing products for sale at http:/www. goldenoak.com. Whalen is listed as the
Registrant of the http://www.goldenoak.com website, as shown in Exhibit 30. Whalen
offers at least two electric fireplace consoles for sale on the http://www.goldenoak.com

site, as shown in Exhibits 31 and 32.

V. TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE

42.  Anelectric fireplace is a kinetic sculpture approximating the size and look
of a real, wood-burning fireplace. In particular, the electric fireplace replicates the

moving flames, burning embers, and charred wood of a real wood-burning fireplace. The



electric fireplace may incorporate an electric heater to simulate heat radiated by a real
wood-burning fireplace.

43.  Each Twin-Star electric fireplace comprises a self-contained fireplace
insert that houses electric and electronic components, including illumination means,
flame motion simulators, electronic status displays, an electronic controller circuit board,
electronic remote control receiving means, and a heater/blower assembly. The fireplace
insert also includes a multi-section molded and painted sculpture representing burned
wood, embers, and a cast-iron support. The entire fireplace insert includes an ornate
metal face frame and enclosure. The above components cooperate to produce a realistic,

simulated representation of a real burning fire within the enclosure.

VI. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AT ISSUE
A. The Twin-Star Technology
1. Development of the Twin-Star Technology

44.  Beginning in 2001, Twin-Star, and TS Holding through its ownership of
and investment in Twin-Star, invested significant time, money and effort through, for
example, several key technical employees,.including engineers and other skilled workers,
to research, develop, engineer and commercially implement the Twin-Star Technology,

including the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, in the United States.

2. Twin-Star Manufacturing Process

45.  Twin-Star Technology includes a manufacturing process (“Twin-Star
Process”) that includes mény steps, and was developed specifically to provide high

quality products at high volume.
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46.  On information and belief, in approximately 2002, Twin-Star first
implemented the Twin-Star Process and Twin-Star Technology at Twin-Star’s
manufacturing facilities.

47.  The Twin-Star Process comprises information that is sufficiently secret to
derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to or readily
ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain economic value from its
disclosure or use.

48.  The Twin-Star Process has provided and provides Twin-Star with
significant competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

49.  Those significant competitive advantages include Twin-Star being able to
provide high quality products at high volume, allowing Twin-Star to be a profitable
company. |

50.  Over time, and through additional significant investments of time, money
and effort, Twin-Star has and continues to further develop, improve upon and localize
some of the Twin-Star Process and Twin-Star Technology, including the Twin-Star Trade

Secrets.

3. Twin-Star Component Supplier List

51.  Twin-Star’s component supplier list (“Component Supplier List™) |
comprises the manufacturers and suppliers best suited to build cost-efficient, safe and
commercially-viable electric fireplace products.

52.  The Component Supplier List comprises information that is sufficiently

secret to derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to or

11



readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain economic value
from its disclosure or use.

53.  The Component Supplier List has provided and provides Twin-Star with
significant competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

54. Those significant competitive advantages include Twin-Star’s knowledge
relating to manufacturers and suppliers best able to supply parts and materials that have
been designed to maximize profit and build high quality electric fireplace products, as
well as information concerning suppliers and materials that are not optimal to maximize
profit and build high quality electric fireplace products.

55.  Those significant competitive advantages also include, as acknowledged
by Yue, Twin-Star’s years of research in selecting and testing the components supplied
by a wide range of component makers to arrive at a choice selection of critical and safe
components for its electric fireplace products. See Confidential Exhibitv4.

56.  Over time, and through additional significant investments of time, money
and effort, Twin-Star continues to develop and improve upon this knowledge and

information.

4, Twin-Star Manufacturing Specifications

57. Twin-Star’s manufacturing specifications (“Manufacturing Specs”) are
specifications for its electric fireplace products which have been developed over ten years
through its experience in manufacturing those products.

58. The Manufacturing Specs cofnprise information that is sufﬁci‘ently secret

to derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to or

12



readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain economic value
from its disclosure or use.

59. The Manufacturing Specs have provided and provide Twin-Star with
significant competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

60.  Those significant competitive advantages include allowing Twin-Star to
provide a high-quality, safe product at a price that consumers are willing to pay.

61. Over time, and through additional significant investments of time, money
and effort, Twin-Star continues to further develop and improve upon the Manufacturing
Specs.

62. The Manufacturing Specs are the subject of efforts, by and on behalf of
Twin-Star, that have been and are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain the

secrecy or confidentiality of the Manufacturing Specs.

5. Twin-Star Prototype 3 LED Functional Indicator
Display (Hardware)

63. | In 2009, Twin-Star designed a novel and secret prototype (“Twin-Star
Prototype 3”) of an attractive interface and display to provide the user with information
about the settings of the fireplace. This prototype was never sold and was maintained in
confidence within Twin-Star.

64. A rendering of the Twin-Star Prototype 3 is attached as Confidential
Exhibit 6.

65.  In general, the settings on electric fireplaces are difficult to readily discern
because it is difficult to discern variations in, for example, heat, glow, or intensity of the
flame effect. Thus, the illuminated display and back-end electronics in Twin-Star

Prototype 3 has independent economic value.

13



66.  The design and drawings related to Twin-Star Prototype 3 are information
that is sufficiently secret to derive ecoﬁomic value, actual or potential, from not being
generally known to or readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can
obtain economic value from its disclosure or use.

67.  Because the presently marketed Twin-Star fireplaces incorporate an
illuminated display and back-end electronics that are based on those of Twin-Star
- Prototype 3, Twin-Star Prototype 3 has provided and provides Twin-Star with significant
competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

68. Those significant competitive advantages include allowing Twin-Star to
develop commercially successful, operationally stable and safe electric fireplace products
based on Twin-Star Prototype 3 to provide an interesting and attractive way to present the
user with information about the settings of the fireplace.

69. Over time, and through significant investments of time, money and effort,
Twin-Star has continued to further develop and improve upon the Twin-Star Prototype 3
design in the United States and elsewhere, resulting in the release of the present Twin-

Star fireplaces in the market today.

6. Twin-Star Prototype 3 LED Functional Indicator
Display Programming (Software)

70.  Inrelation to Twin-Star Prototype 3, Twin-Star worked with a contracted
programmer and contracted circuit designers over the course of several months to
program software (“Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software”) for the function indicator display.

71.  Twin-Star has spent significant time, money, and resources in developing,
manufacturing, and debugging the function indicator display and its related software over

its years of development.
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72.  The programming in Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software is information that is
sufficiently secret to derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally
known to or readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain
economic value from its disclosure or use.

73.  Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software has provided and provides Twin-Star with
significant competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

74.  Those significant competitive advantages include allowing Twin-Star to
develop commercially successful and operationally safe electric fireplace products based
on Twin-Star Prototype 3 to provide an interesting ‘and attractive way to present the user
with information about the settings of the ﬁrepla;:e.

75. Over time, and through significant investments of time, money and effort,
Twin-Star has continued to furtiler develop and improve upon the Twin-Star Prototype 3

Software in the United States and elsewhere.

7. Twin-Star Customer List

76.  Twin-Star’s proprietary customer list (“Customer List™) shows, among
other things, precisely the retailers that have shown significant interest in purchasing
Twin-Star electric fireplace products, who is a viéble candidate to buy electric fireplace
products, who has purchased them in the past and the correspondingly purchase
quantities, and the needs and specifications of these customers. Thus, anyone with the
list has valuable sales leads to sell electric fireplace products.

77.  The Customer List is information that is sufficiently secret to derive

economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally known to or readily
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ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain economic value from its
disclosure or use.

78.  The Customer List has provided and provides Twin-Star with significant
competitive advantages over competitors and would-be competitors.

79. Those significant competitive advantages include Twin-Star’s own
information, compiled over many years, about potential customers and past customers so
as to increase sales and revenue of Twin-Star fireplaces.

80. Over time, and through additional significant investments of time, money
and effort, Twin-Star continues to further develop and improve its list of past and

potential customers.

8. Twin-Star Trade Secrets

81.  The Twin-Star Trade Secrets (a) are or relate to innovative electric
fireplace products manufacturing processes or innovative materials used therein; (b)
include aspects of the Twin-Star Process, the Component Supplier List, Manufacturing
Specs, Twin-Star Prototype 3, Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software, and Customer List; and
(© includé designs and drawings of electric fireplace products manufacturing equipment
and other equipment used to effectuate or relating to the Twin-Star Process.

82.  Prior to the unfair methods of competition and unfair acts and omissions
complained of herein, each of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets comprised information that
was sufficiently secret to derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being
generally known to or readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can

obtain economic value from its disclosure or use.
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83.  Since and notwithstanding the unfair methods of competition and unfair
acts and omissions complained of herein, each of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets is still
sufficiently secret to derive economic value, actual or potential, from not being generally
known to or readily ascertainable by proper means by other persons who can obtain
economic value from its disclosure or use, including other persons in the electric fireplace
products industry and other persons in the general public.

84. Each of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets has been and is the subject of efforts,
by and on behalf of Twin-Star, that were and are reasonable under the circumstances to
maintain the secrecy or confidentiality of each of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

85.  Although the secrecy or confidentiality of each of the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets has been diminished to an undetermined degree by the unfair methods of
competition and unfair acts and omissions complained of herein, Twin-Star continues to
make efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to eliminate any further
unauthorized retention, access, acquisition, disclosure, reliance on and use of the Twin-
Star Trade Secrets.

86. Reasonable efforts, by and on behalf of Twin-Star, to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets include imposing contractual
confidentiality and non-disclosure obligations on Twin-Star employees and stockholders.

87. A true and accurate copy of the SSA is attached as Confidential Eﬁhibit 2.

88. A true and accurate copy of the Employee Confidentiality Agreement is
attached as Confidential Exhibit 7.

89.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy

or confidentiality of certain Twin-Star Trade Secrets include Twin-Star maintaining
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manufacturing operations and production drawings in secured and access-controlled
facilities.

90. Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets include Twin-Star adopting and
publishing to its employees confidentiality and non-disclosure obligations.

91.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets include: a limit on the number of
manufacturing facilities used, 24-hour security of the manufacturing facilities and
controlled access to all manufacturing facilities, strict confidentiality maintained for
cbmmunications between Twin-Star and its exclusive suppliers overseas, and strict
control by Twin-Star over the dissemination of any technical plans or processes.

92.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Process include: 24-hour security of the
manufacturing facilities, controlled access to all manufacturing facilities and controlled
handling of drawings for production use, including limiting personnel who had access to
the specifications, drawings and manufacturing processes.

93.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Component Supplier List include: controlled handling of the
Component Supplier List, by maintaining the Component Supplier List on Twin-Star
computers which are not publicly accessible and are password-protected; limiting
distribution of the Component Supplier List to Twin-Star U.S. employees only; and

requiring subcontractors and employees to sign non-disclosure agreements. A
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confidential copy of an exemplary component supplier agreement is attached hereto as
Confidential Exhibit 5.

94.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Manufacturing Specs include: storing specifications in
secured facilities; and limited distribution to a few key employees and third-party
manufacturers on an as-needed basis under agreements to maintain confidence.

95.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Prototype 3 include: refraining from public disclosure;
limiting knowledge of the prototype to a few key employees; étoring concept and design
documents on Twin-Star’s secure computer system; and maintaining physical prototypes
in secured facilities at Twin-Star U.S. and Twin-Star Asia facilities.

96.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software include: limiting knowledge of
and access to the program to key employees, Yue and Nemes, and requiring third-party
contract programmer to enter confidentiality agreement. See, supra, Confidential
Exhibit 5.

97.  Reasonable efforts by and on behalf of Twin-Star to maintain the secrecy
or confidentiality of the Customer List include: controlled handling of the Customer List,
such that the Customer List by maintaining on Twin-Star computers which are not
publicly accessible and are password-protected; requiring employees to sign non-
disclosure agreements; and limiting distribution of the Customer List to Twin-Star U.S.

employees only.
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B. Twin-Star Registered Copyrights

98. Twin-Star concurrently develops user manuals to correspond with each
new fireplace that it produces and distributes, including the Twin-Star fireplaces. These
manuals are distributed with each Twin-Star fireplace and are publicly available online
through Twin-Star’s website, http://www.twinstarparts.com/order-manuals.aspx, where
anyone may download manuals for any Twin-Star sculpture that was produced after
2005.

99.  Priorto May 2006, Twin-Star created an original work entitled E1
MANUAL. This work contains drawings, tables and text and is attached as Exhibit 8.
On May 6, 2011, Twin-Star applied to the Register of Copyrights for a Certificate of
Régistration covering its E1 MANUAL. The issued copyright registration bears
registration number TX0007350474 and an effective date of May 6, 2011. A true and
correct copy of the registration record retrieved from the United States Copyright Office
is attached as Exhibit 9.!

100.  Prior to May 2010, Twin-Star created an original work entitled E22
MANUAL. This work contains drawings, tables and text and is attached as Exhibit 10.
On May 6, 2011, Twin-Star applied to the Register of Copyrights for a Certificate of
Registration covering its E22 MANUAL. The issued copyright registration bears

registration number TX0007350476 and an effective date of May 6, 2011. A true and

! Original certified copies of the copyright registration records for the four registered
Twin-Star works at issue in the Complaint have been requested and will be submitted
when received. Copies of the certified copies of these registration records that were
filed with the complaint in Investigation No. 337-TA-791 are filed herewith as Exhibits
25-28.
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correct copy of the registration record retrieved from the United States Copyright Office
is attached as Exhibit 11.

101.  Prior to May 2010, Twin-Star created an original work entitled KINETIC
SCULPTURE 1. This work contains a three-dimensional sculpture composed of a log
set, ember bed, hearth, grate, ﬂamé reflecting screen, glass casing, housing, and frame. A
photograph and rendering of this work are attached as Exhibit 1-2. On May 6, 2011,
Twin-Star applied to the Register of Copyrights for a Certificate of Registration covering
its KINETIC SCULPTURE 1. The issued copyright registration bears registration
number VA0001772660 and an effective date of May 26, 2011. A true and correct copy
of the registration record retrieved from the United States Copyright Office is attached as
Exhibit 13.

102.  Prior to May 2010, Twin-Star created an original work entitled KINETIC
SCULPTURE 2. This work contains a three-dimensional sculpture composed of a log
set, hearth, grate, flame reflecting screen, brick siding, reflective screen, glass casing,
housing, and frame. A photograph and rendering of this work are attached as Exhibit 14.
On May 6, 2011, Twin-Star applied to the Register of Copyrights for a Certificate of
Registration covering its KINETIC. SCULPTURE 2. The issued copyright registration
bears registration number VA0001772661 and an effective date of May 26, 2011. A true
and correct copy of the registration record retrieved from the United States Copyright
Office is attached as Exhibit 15.

103. The works identified in paragraphs 99-102 will hereafter be described as

the “Subject Works.”
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104. The Subject Works are written works and compilations that are original to
Twin-Star, which authored, selected and/or arranged the material to form the Subject
Works, and comprise copyrightable subject matter under the laws of the United States.

105. Twin-Star is the sole proprietor of all right, title and interest in and to the
copyrights in the Subject Works. At all times pertinent hereto, Twin-Star has produced
and distributed the Subject Works in conformity with the provisions of the Copyright Act

of 1976 and all other laws governing copyrights.

VII. IMPORTATION INTO, SALE FOR IMPORTATION INTO AND SALE
AFTER IMPORTATION WITHIN THE UNITED STATES

106. Reliap and/or Yue have imported into the United States, sold for
importation into the United States and/or have sold within the United States after
importation Reliap Electric Fireplaces and user manuals therefor.

107. Whalen has imported into the United States, sold for importation into the
United States, and/or has sold within the United States after importation Reliap Electric
Fireplaces and user manuals therefore.

108. Counsel for Complainants obtained a Whalen operating manual attached
as Exhibit 36, along with the product itself, at a Sam’s Club store in Hodgkins, Illinois on
December 8, 2011, as evidenced by a receipt of the transaction attached as Exhibit 39.

109. A true and accurate copy of a photograph of a Reliap Electric Fireplace as
shown in Whalen’s furﬁiture showroom in Las Vegas, NV in August 2010 vis attached as
Exhibit 16.

110.  The Reliap Electric Fireplace was manufactured in China in Reliap’s

manufacturing facility. See Exhibit 17.
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111. A true and accurate copy of Reliap’s website, last accessed on April 25,
2011, marketing to prospective purchasers and users of Reliap’s electric fireplace
products is attached as Exhibit 18.

112. A true and accurate copy of the Reliap Electric Fireplace operating manual
is attached as Exhibit 17.

113. A true and accurate copy of a Whalen operating manual for models FP-30-
1/FP-26-1/FP-26-2 / FP-23-1 / FP-18-1, which include upon knowledge and belief, a
Reliap Electric Fireplace, is attached as Exhibit 33.

114. A true and accurate copy of a Whalen operating manual for model FP-30-
1, which includes upon knowledge and belief, a Reliap Electric Fireplace, is attached as
Exhibit 36.

115. The Reliap Electric Fireplaces is believed to fall within at least the
following classification of the Harmonized Tariff Schedules of the United States:
8516.29.0090. This classification is intended for illustrative purposes only and is not

intended to restrict the scope or type of subject products.

VIII. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS OF PROPOSED RESPONDENTS
A. Trade Secret Misappropriation

116. At least certain Twin-Star Technology, namely, the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets, have been and are being misappropriated by the Proposed Respondents, each of
which unfairly and unlawfully has gained and is gaining significant competitive
advantages by usurping Twin-Star’s significant investments of time, money and effort

and forcing Twin-Star to compete against Twin-Star’s own intellectual property.
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117.  The Proposed Respondents have wrongfully entered the electric fireplace
products industry through misappropriating the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

118. While employed by Twin-Star, Yue was authorized to access and use one
or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

119. While employed by Twin-Star, Yue was authorized to access and use
Twin-Star’s Customer List and Supplier List.

120.  Upon termination of employment with Twin-Star, Yue has not been
authorized to access, disclose, rely on or use any of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

121.  Former Twin-Star employee Yue has not been and is not authorized to rely
on or use any of the Twin-Star Technology, including Twin-Star Trade Secrets, or access
or disclose any of the non-publicly available portions of the Twin-Star Technology,
including Twin-Star Trade Secrets. See Confidential Exhibit 2.

122.  To accomplish the misappropriation of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, Yue,
a former and trusted employee of Twin-Star and stockholder in TS Holding, began
preparations unbeknownst to Complainants to form his own new company Reliap. He
eventually left Twin-Star and took a position with Reliap. In doing So, Reliap has
wrongfully acquired Twin-Star’s trade secrets, Yue and Reliap wrongfully have disclosed
and are disclosing one or more of the Twin-Star’s Trade Secrets, Yue, Reliap, and
Whalen have used and are using one or more of the Twin-Star’s Trade Secrets to
manufacture electric fireplace products in China and market, import, sell, and distribute

Reliap Electric Fireplaces in the United States.
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123.  That is, without authority or consent, Reliap Electric Fireplaces actually or
threateningly have resulted and are resulting from one or more of the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets.

124.  Without authority or consent, Reliap actually and threateningly has
manufactured and is manufacturing Reliap Electric Fireplaces by, through or with one or
more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and Whalen, Yue and/or Reliap are marketing,
importing, selling, and distributing Reliap Electric Fireplaces in the United States.

125. The misappropriation of Twin-Star Prototype 3 allowed Reliap to rapidly
design and manufacture Reliap Electric Fireplaces.

126. The misappropriation of Twin-Star Prototype 3 Software allowed Reliap
to rapidly design and manufacture Reliap Electric Fireplaces.

127. Neither Whalen, Reliap nor Yue has been or is authorized to rely on or use
any of the Twin-Star Technology or access or disclose any of the non-publicly available
portions of the Twin-Star Technology.

128. Twin-Star possesses clear and protectable rights and interests in its eiectric
ﬁreplace products technology, including the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

| 129. Twin-Star’s rights and interests in its electric fireplace products

technology, including the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, are in need of protection.

1. Unauthorized Acquisition Of Twin-Star Trade Secrets
by One or More of the Proposed Respondents

130. Whalen and Reliap knew or should have known former Twin-Star
employee, Yue, was (a) to hold the Twin-Star Trade Secrets in confidence and protect
their secrecy; (b) not to disclose any of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets to any unauthorized

person(s), including Reliap and any of its employees; and (c) permitted to disclose Twin-
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Star Trade Secrets while he was a Twin-Star employee, but only to another authorized
person(s) and in connection with performing his corresponding duties.

131.  After resigning from Twin-Star, Yue improperly acquired or maintained
possession of one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and knowledge thereof, and
Yue knew or had reason to know of such improper acquisition or possession, through (a)
theft, (b) breach of employment, i.e., confidential, relationships with Complainants and/or
(c) breach of contractual and/or other legal duties, directly or indirectly owed to
Complainants, to maintain the secrecy or confidentiality and limit the disclosure and use
of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets. See Confidential Exhibit 2.

132. Whalen and Reliap actually and threateningly have improperly acquired
the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and knowledge thereof by and as a result of Yue working
with Reliap and Yue acting to: (a) wrongfully take one or more of the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets, and/or (b) breach contractual and/or othér legal duties, directly or indirectly
owed to Complainants, to maintain the secrecy or confidentiality and limit the disclosure
and use of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

133. Whalen and Reliap knew or had reason to know that former Twin-Star
employee Yue improperly acquired or maintained possession of one or more of the Twin-
Star Trade Secrets and knowledge thereof and that Reliap actually improperly acquired
and would threateningly improperly acquire one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets

and knowledge thereof from former Twin-Star employee Yue.

2. Unauthorized Disclosure Of Twin-Star Trade Secrets
by One or More of the Proposed Respondents

134.  Yue actually and threateningly has disclosed, is disclosing and will

disclose, without express or implied authority or consent, one or more of the Twin-Star
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Trade Secrets to at least Reliap, including at least other Reliap employees, to manufacture
or in connection with manufacturing Reliap Electric Fireplaces and to Whalen and Reliap
in connection with the importation, sale for importation, and sale within the U.S. after
importation of Reliap Electric Fireplaces.

135. Reliap, by and through at least Yue actually and threateningly has
disclosed, is disclosing and will disclose, without express or implied authority or consent,
one or more of the Twin-Sfar Trade Secrets to at least Reliap employees, other than Yue,
to manufacture or in connection with manufacturing Reliap Electric Fireplaces. Reliap,
by and through at least Yue actually and threateningly has disclosed, is disclosing and
will disclose, without express or implied authority or consent, one or more of the Twin-
Star Trade Secrets to at least Whalen in connection with the importation, sale for
importation, and sale within the United States after importation of Reliap Electric
Fireplaces.

136. At the time of Reliap’s disclosure of one or more of the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets, Reliap knew or had reason to know that its knowledge of the Twin-Star Trade
Secrets was wrongfully derived from Yue, who: (a) utilized improper means to acquire or
maintain possession of one or more of the Tvvin;Star Trade Secrets and (b) directly or
indirectly owed to Complainants and breached contractual and/or other legal duties to
maintain the secrecy or confidentiality and limit the disclosure and usé of the Twin-Star

Trade Secrets.

3. Unauthorized Use Of Twin-Star Trade Secrets by One
or More of the Proposed Respondents

137.  Whalen and Reliap knew or should have known that the former Twin-Star

employee, Yue, was not to rely on or use any of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, except
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while Yue was a Twin-Star employee and then only when authorized and in connection
with performing his corresponding duties.

138.  Yue actually and threateningly has relied on and used, is relying on and
using and will rely on and use, without express or implied authority or consent, one or
more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets in connection with Reliap’s manufacture of Reliap
Electric Fireplaces.

139. A true and accurate copy of a photograph of an invoice showing Reliap’s
purchase of materials from one of Twin-Star’s suppliers is attached as Confidential
Exhibit 19. |

140.  Reliap, by and through at least Yue, actually and threateningly has relied
on and used, is relying on and using and will rely on and use, without express or implied
authority or consent, one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets to manufacture or in
connection with manufacturing Reliap Electric Fireplaces. See Confidential Exhibit 19.

141. Whalen and Reliap, by and through Yue, actually and threateningly have
relied on and used, are relying on and using and will rely on and use, without express or
implied authority or consent, one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets in connection
with the importation, sale for importation, and sale in the United States aﬁer importation
of Reliap Electric Fireplace products.

142. At the time of Whalen’s and Reliap’s reliance on and use of one or more
of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, Whalen and Reliap knew or had reason to know that its
knowledge of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets was wrongfully derived from Yue who (a)
utilized improper means to acquire or maintain possession of one or more of the Twin-

Star Trade Secrets and (b) directly or indirectly owed to Complainants and breached
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contractual and/or other legal duties to maintain the secrecy or confidentiality and limit
the disclosure and use of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

143. Whalen and Reliap knew or should have known that the former Twin-Star
employee, Yue, had access to or knowledge of certain Twin-Star Technology, including
one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

144. - Whalen and Reliap knew or should have known that Yue was (a) to hold
the Twin-Star Trade Secrets in confidence and protect their secrecy; (b) not to disclose
any of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets to any unauthorized person(s), including Reliap and
any of its employees; and (c) permitted to disclose Twin-Star Trade Secrets while he was
a Twin-Star employee, but only to another authorized person(s) and in connection with
performing his corresponding duties as a Twin-Star employee.

145. Whalen and Reliap knew or should have known that the Yue was not to
rely on or use any of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, except while Yue was a Twin-Star
employee and then only when authorized and in connection with performing his
corresponding duties.

146. Reliap knew or should have known that it has wrongfully relied on and
used, is wrongfully relying on and using and will wrongfully rely on and use one or more
of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets to manufacture or in connection with manufacturing
Reliap Electric Fireplaces.

147. Whalen, Reliap and/or Yue actually and threateningly have relied on and
used, are relying on and using and will rely on and use, without express or implied

authority or consent, one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets in connection the
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importation, sale for importation, sale, marketing and offering for sale Reliap Electric
Fireplaces within the United States.

148. Whalen and Reliap have actually and threateningly improperly acquired
the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and knowledge thereof by and as a result of Yue’s
wrongfully taking one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and breaching contractual
and/or other legal duties, including obligations of confidentiality owed to Complainants
to maintain the secrecy or confidentiality and limit the disclosure and use of the Twin-
Star Trade Secrets.

149. Whalen and Reliap knew or had reason to know that Yue improperly
acquired or maintained possession of one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and
knowledge thereof and that Whalen and Reliap actually improperly acquired and would
threateningly improperly acquire one or moré of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and
knowledge thereof from Yue.

150. At the time of Whalen’s and Reliap’s reliance on and use of one or more
of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets, Whalen and Reliap knew or had reason to know that
Whalen’s and Reliap’s knowledge of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets were wrongfully
derived from Yue who (a) utilized improper means to acquire or maintain possession of
one or more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and (b) directly or indirectly owed to
Complainants and breached contractual and/or other legal duties to maintain the secrecy

or confidentiality and limit the disclosure and use of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

B. Copyright Infringement

151. Upon information and belief, Proposed Respondents Yue and Reliap

knowingly and willfully directly copied portions of the Subject Works for the specific
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purpose of infringing Twin-Star’s copyrights and distributing illegal and unauthorized
copies thereof.

152. Upon information and belief, Proposed Respondents have copied
significant portions of the drawings, text and layouts of the manuals distributed as
Subject Works, namely, E1 MANUAL and E22 MANUAL, and have produced these
unauthorized copies as Reliap’s and Whalen’s product literature.

153. A copy of Reliap’s product literature is attached as Exhibit 17. Side-by-
side comparisons of certain pages of Reliap’s product literature and Twin-Star’s Subject
Works E1 MANUAL and E22 MANUAL are attached as Exhibits 20 and 21,
respectively.

154. A copy of a Whalen operating manual for models FP-30-1 / FP-26-1 / FP-
26-2 / FP-23-1 / FP-18-1, which include upon knowledge and belief, a Reliap Electric
Fireplace, is attached as Exhibit 33. A comparison of Twin-Star’s E1 Manual (left) and
the Whalen operating manual for models FP-30-1 / FP-26-1 / FP-26-2 / FP-23-1 / FP-18-
1 (right) is attached as Exhibit 34. A comparison of Twin-Star’s E22 Manual (left) and
the Whalen operating manual for models FP-30-1 / FP-26-1 / FP-26-2 / FP-23-1 / FP-18-
1 (right) is attached as Exhibit 35.

155. A copy of a Whalen operating manual for model FP-30-1, which includes
upon knowledge and belief, a Reliap Electric Fireplace, is attached as Exhibit 36. A
comparison of Twin-Star’s E1 Manual (left) and the Whalen operating manual for model
FP-30-1 (right) is attached as Exhibit 37. A comparison of Twin-Star’s E22 Manual
(left) and the Whalen operating manual for model FP-30-1 (right) is attached as Exhibit

38.
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156. Upon information and belief, Proposed Respondents have also recently
begun to produce, distribute, and offer for sale and is or were selling a number of
electronic fireplaces that incorporate sculptural configurations which are identical or
substantially similar to and copied from Twin-Star’s Subject Works, namely, KINETIC
SCULPTURE 1 and KINETIC SCULPTURE 2.

157. | Upon information and belief, one or more of the Proposed Respondents
have been reproducing illegal and unauthorized copies of the portions of the Subject
Works and distributing thé same to actual and potential sales representatives and
customers.

158. Many of the Proposed Respondents’ products incorporate nearly every
subject, detail, color and dimension of Twin-Star’s original product designs. It is clear
from a comparison of respective products themselves, that the Proposed Respondents’
products in question are copies of Twin-Star’s original product designs and sculptural
configurations. A side-by-side comparison of the Subject Works, namely, KINETIC
SCULPTURE 1 and KINETIC SCULPTURE 2 is attached as Exhibit 22.

159. The natural, probative and foreseeable result of the Proposed
Respondents’ wrongful conduct has been and will continue to deprive Twin-Star of the
benefits of the Subject Works, to deprive Twin-Star of goodwill and to injure Twin-Star’s
relations with actual and prospective sales representatives and customers.

160. By their actions alleged above the Proposed Respondents have willfully
infringed and will continue to infringe Plaintiff’s copyrights and registrations thereof,
Reg. Nos. TX0007350474, TX0007350476, VA0001772660, VA0001772661 in and to

Twin-Star’s original product designs by marketing, distributing, copying and otherwise
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wrongfully using Twin-Star’s original product designs, copyrighted materials or materials
substantially similar thereto.

161. By the actions alleged above, the Proposed Respondents have infringed
and will continue to infringe Twin-Star’s copyrights in and relating to the Subject Works
by producing, distributing and placing in to the marketplace infringing works which are

direct copies of portions of the Subject Works.

C. Unfair Competition Through Breach of Stockholder Agreement
1. Introduction

162. Yue was an employee of Twin-Star from December 12, 2003 to May 31,
2010.

163. During his over six years of employment with Twin-Star, Yue had
possession of and access to the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

164. Yue had substantial and direct contact with prospective and current
customers. Customer contact included regular meetings and telephone convérsations
with current customers of Twin-Star regarding their existing business with Twin-Star.
Yue also met and spoke regularly to prospective customers regarding services that Twin-
Star could provide to them.

165. As part of his ¢mployment with Twin-Star, Yue entered into the SSA,
attached as Confidential Exhibit 2, which reasonably restricted his use and disclosure of
confidential information and post-employment competition; as more fully set out in the
SSA and summarized below.

166. Yue entered into the SSA with TS Holding on or about June 7, 2007. See

Confidential Exhibit 2.
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167.  Yue holds shares of Class A Common Stock under the SSA and received a
certificate representing the shares, registered in the name of Mr. Yue. A copy of one of
Mr. Yue’s Stock Certificates is attached as Confidential Exhibit 23. Mr. Yue remains a
shareholder of TS Holding.

168. The SSA provides, among other things, that Yue will not disclose
confidential information and trade secrets belonging to TS Holdings or its subsidiaries at
any time during and after employment. See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9.

169. Uﬁder Section 9(d) of the SSA, Yue agreed that he would not compete
with Complainants during his employment and for a period after employment. See
Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9(d).

170. Under Section 9(f) of the SSA, Yue agreed not to solicit Complainants’
customers during employment and for a period after employment. See Confidential
Exhibit 2, section 9(f).

171.  Under Section 9(g) of the SSA, Yue agreed not to solicit others during |
employment and for a period aftg:r employment. See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9(g).

172.  Section 17 of the SSA provides that TS Holdings shall be entitled to have
the SSA specifically enforced, to recofzer damages resulting from violation of any
provision of the SSA, and shall be entitled to have any other rights and remedies allowed
at law or equity, including injunctive relief for the breach of any of the provisions of the

SSA. See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 17.

2, Unfair Competition Through Wrongful Solicitation of
Customers

173.  Yue entered into the SSA with TS Holdings on or about June 7, 2007.
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174.  Atall times pertinent hereto, TS Holdings performed all conditions
precedent under the SSA.

175.  Yue formed Reliap to manufacture and sell electric fireplace products.

176. Upon information and belief, Yue has solicited Twin-Star customers in
breach of the SSA.

177. By directly or indirectly soliciting and attempting to solicit Twin-Star’s
customers and seeking to do business with customers Yue has threatened to breach, has

breached and is breaching the SSA.

3. Unfair Competition Through Wrongful Use and/or
Disclosure of Confidential Information

178. Under Section 9(a), of the SSA, Yue is obligated to refrain from using for
his own benefit, Complainants’ confidential information. See Confidential Exhibit 2,
section 9(a).

179. Upon information and belief, Yue has breached and threatened to breach
the SSA in that, among other things, he has used and/or disclosed Twin-Star’s
confidential information concerning Twin-Star’s firebox technology.

180. Moreover, Yue’s use and/or disclosure of confidential information may be

enjoined pursuant to the SSA.

4. Unfair Competition Through Breach of the Non-
Competition Provisions

181. Under Section 9(d) of the SSA, Yue is prohibited from competing with
Complainants for a period following his employment.
182.  Yue has breached and threatened to breach the SSA in that, among other

things, he has competed with and is competing with Complaints in the U.S. market.

35



D. Unfair Competition from Tortious Interference
1. Introduction

183. Yue was an employee of Twin-Star from December 12, 2003 to May 31,
2010.

184. During his over six years of employment with Twin-Star, Yue had
possession of and access to the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

185.  Yue had substantial and direct contact with prospective and current
customers. Customer contact included regular meetings and telephone conversations
with current customers of Twin-Star regarding their existing business with Twin-Star.
Yue also met and spoke regularly to prospective customers regarding services that Twin-
Star could provide to them.

186. Yue entered into the SSA, attached as Confidential Exhibit 2, which
reasonably restricted his use and disclosure of confidential information and post-
employment competition, as more fully set out in the SSA and summarized below.

187. Yue entered into the SSA with TS Holding on or about June 7, 2007. See
Confidential Exhibit 2.

188. Under the SSA, Yue holds shares of Class A Common Stock, and received
a certificate representing the shares, registered in the name of Mr. Yue. A copy of one of
Mr. Yue’s Stock ‘Certiﬁcates is attached as Confidential Exhibit 23.

189.  The SSA provides, among other things, that Yue will not disclose
confidential information and trade secrets belonging to TS Holdings or its subsidiaries at

any time during and after employment. See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9.
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190. Under Section 9(d) of the SSA, Yue agreed that he would not compete
with Complainants during his employment and for a two-year period after employment.
See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9(d).

191.  Under Section 9(f) of the SSA, Yue agreed not to solicit Complainants’
customers during employment and for two-year a period after employment. See
Confidential Exhibit 2, section 9(f).

192.  Under Section 9(g) of the SSA, Yue agreed not to solicit others during
employment and for a two-year period after employment. See Confidential Exhibit 2,
section 9(g).

193.  Section 17 of the SSA provides that TS Holdings shall be entitled to have
the SSA specifically enforced, to recover damages resulting from violation of any
provision of the SSA, and shall be entitled to have any other rights and remedies allowed
at law or equity, including injunctive relief for the breach of any of the provisions of the

SSA. See Confidential Exhibit 2, section 17.

2, Unfair Competition Stemming from Reliap and
Whalen’s Tortious Interference with Contractual
Relations

194. On information and belief, Reliap had knowledge of the SSA agreement,
including the nondisclosure, noncompetition and non-solicitation provisions included
therein.

195. On information and belief, Whalen had knowledge of the SSA agreement,
including the nondisclosure, noncompetition, and non-solicitation provisions included

therein.
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196. On information and belief, Yue, Reliap, and Whalen have taken active
steps to design, manufacture, import, distribute, and/or sell Reliap Electric Fireplaces and
operating manuals and distributing them to Whalen for sale in the United States.

197. By July, 2010, Yue left Twin-Star to work with Reliap, a direct competitor
of Twin-Star and, on information and belief, began manufacturing Reliap Electric
Fireplaces and operating manuals and distributing them to Whalen for sale in the United
States.

198. Among other actions, Whalen began offering to sell the Reliap Electric
Fireplaces in a Las Vegas, Nevada showroom at least as early as July 2010. Such
products compete with Twin-Star’s product in the United States.

199. The Reliap Electric Fireplaces and operating manuals are also imported,
advertised, distributed, publicly displayed, and/or sold within the United States by Reliap
and Whalen. See, e.g., Exhibit 39. These products incorporate and/or were
manufactured or distributed through the use of Twin-Star’s confidential and proprietary
information, including the Twin-Star Trade Secrets.

200. On information and belief, Reliap and Whalen have solicited and continue
to solicit, Twin-Star’s existing, previous, and potential customers to purchase or enter
into agreements to purchase Reliap Electric Fireplaces incorporating and/or manufactured
or distributed through the use of Twin-Star’s confidential and proprietary information and
intellectual property.

201. On information and belief, Reliap entered into a business relationship with
Yue as a manufacturer of Reliap Electric Fireplaces. Reliap has maintained this business

relationship with knowledge of, and in order to induce breach of, Yue’s continuing
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contractual obligations under the SSA Agreement. Specifically, Reliap has interfered and
continues to interfere with Yue’s contractual obligations to Twin-Star by a.) inducing
Yue to use and/or disclose to Reliap for its use Twin-Star’s confidential and proprietary
information, including Twin-Star Trade Secrets; b.) inducing Yue to compete with Twin-
-Star fewer than two (2) years after the termination of Yue’s employment with Twin-Star;
and c.) inducing Yue to solicit or aid Reliap in soliciting the business or patronage of
Twin-Star’s existing, previous or potential customers, directly and indirectly, fewer than
two (2) years after the termination of Yue’s employmgnt.

202. On information and belief, Whalen entered into a business relationship
with Yue as a purchaser and sales representative for Reliap Electric Fireplaces. Whalen
maintained this business relationship with knowledge of, and in order té induce breach
of, Yue’s continuing contractual obligations under the SSA Agreement. Specifically,
Whalen has interfered and continues to iﬁterfere with Yue’s contractual obligations to
Twin-Star by a.) inducing Yue to use and/or disclose to Reliap for Whalen’s use or
benefit Twin-Star’s confidential and proprietary information, including the Twin-Star
Trade Secrets; b.) inducing Yue to use and/or disclose to Whalen for Whalen’s use or
benefit Twin-Star confidential and proprietary information, including the Twin-Star
Trade Secrets; c.).inducing Yue to solicit or aid Whalen in soliciting the business or
patronage of Twin-Star’s existing, previous, or potential customers, directly and
indirectly, fewer than two (2) years after termination of Yue’s employment.

203. Reliap’s and Whalen’s intentional actions in inducing Yue to breach his

continuing contractual obligations under the SSA Agreement have caused injury to Twin-
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Star, including the loss of sales of Twin-Star electric fireplaces and an erosion in the price

of Twin-Star’s products.

IX. LICENSEES

204. To date, Twin-Star has not licensed its intellectual property that is the

subject of this Complaint other than to its authorized suppliers, retailers and purchasers.

X. RELATED LITIGATION

205. Twin-Star identifies the following domestic litigation relating to or
involving at least some of the unfair methods of competition and unfair acts and
omissions complained of herein with respect to one or more of the Proposed
Respondents: In the Matter of Certain Electric Fi ireplaces, Components Thereof,
Manuals for Same, Certain Processei for Manufacturing or Relating to Same and
Certain Products Containing Same, Investigation No. 337-TA-791 (ITC); Twin-Star
International, Inc. v. Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc., Case No. 3:11-cv-01984-
AIB-WVG (S.D. Cal.); Twin-Star International Inc. et al v. Sheng et al, 1:11-cv-00919-
GMS (D. Del.). To date, there has not been any related foreign administrative actions or
litigation.

XI. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

206. The Domestic Industry exists because of marketplace realities, including
(a) Twin-Star’s design and distribution of electric fireplace products and their related
technology in the United States; (b) Twin-Star’s manufacturing-related and other
activities relating to its el_ectric fireplace products technology in the United States; (c)
Twin-Star’s substantial investment in exploitation, including engineering, research and

development of its electric fireplace products technology in the United States; (d) Twin-
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Star’s significant employment of labor and capital relating to its electric fireplace
products technology in the United States; and (e) Twin-Star’s significant investment in
facilities and equipment relating to its electric fireplace products technology in the United

States. See Confidential Exhibits 24 and 40.

A. Manufacturing-Related And Other Value-Added Activities In The
United States

207. In and from the United States, Twin-Star has administered and
administers, has provided and provides, or has performed and performs technical,
including manufacturing-related, support, operations support, engineering support, design
tasks, engineering tasks, and interpretations of the results of those analyses for the
electric fireplace products of Twin-Star that are manufactured overseas, including electric
fireplace products that relate to, embody, and utilize the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and the
Twin-Star Copyrights. Twin-Star contracts to have its electric fireplace products

manufactured overseas.

B. Substantial Investment In Exploitation, Including Engineering,
Research And Development, Acquisition And Licensing, In The
United States

208. Twin-Star’s main headquarters, which includes on-site design facilities
and repair facilities, is located in Delray Beach, Florida. From these facilities, Twin-Star
also distributes parts and refurbishes electric fireplace products distributed in the United
States.

209. The electric fireplace products at issue in this action are engineered,
designed and developed in an advanced design and engineering facility at the Delray

Beach headquarters.
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210. At the design and engineering facility in Florida, instructions on the
configuration, design, engineering, manufacturing methods, packaging and testing of the
Twin-Star electric fireplace products are transmitted to Twin-Star’s exclusive
manufacturing facilities in China. All Twin-Star electric fireplace products, including
their specifications, testing, packaging and parts, are reviewed thoroughly and approved

by personnel in the Florida engineering facility.

C. Significant Employment Of Labor And Capital In The United States

211. Twin-Star has employed and continues to employ a significant number of
employees in the above-mentioned facilities that devote substantial labor and résources
towards product support, testing and quality management, and warranty, repair, and
technical support services for its electric fireplace products. For example, all post-sales
consumer support is performed at Twin-Star’s Delray Beach headquarters. Twin-Star’s
labor and other expenditures are set forth in the Declaration of Mark Asofsky, attached

hereto as Confidential Exhibit 24.

D. Significant Investment In Plants And Equipment In The United States

212. Twin-Star has made and continues to make significant investment in plant
facilities and equipment in the United States dedicated to the service, engineering, and
sales of its electric fireplace products. The plant facilities and equipment used in
connection with these activities are located in Delray Beach, Florida, Elwood, Illinois,
Memphis, Tennessee, High Point, North Carolina and Las Vegas, Nevada. The relevant
portion of Twin-Star’s investment in plant and equipment is set forth in Confidential

Exhibit 24.
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213. Twin-Star has invested and continues to invest significant capital in its
facilities towards product support, testing and quality management, sales, and warranty,
repair, and technical support services for its electric fireplace products. Confidential

Exhibit 24 describes the capital Twin-Star has expended towards these activities.

XII. SUBSTANTIAL INJURY, THREAT OF SUBSTANTIAL INJURY AND
TENDENCY TO SUBSTANTIALLY INJURE

214. The Proposed Respondents’ conduct has substantially and irreparably
injured, and has threatened substantial and irreparable injury to Complainants.

215. Through the acts of unfair competition arising from Respondents’ trade
secret misappropriation, breach of contract, and tortious interference with contractual
relations complained of herein, the Proposed Respondents have targeted and are targeting
the U.S. electric fireplace products market and have targeted, are targeting, have
substantially and irreparably injured, have threatened substantial and irreparable injury to,
have created a tendency to substantially and irreparably injure and are substantially and
irreparably injuring, are threatening substantial and irreparable injury to and are creating
a tendency td substantially and irreparably injure Complainants.

216. That is, Whalen, Yue and/or Reliap have imported, and/or are importing
into the United States, have sold, and/or are selling for importation into the United States
and/or have sold and/or are selling within the United States after importation electric
fireplace products that Reliap has manufactured and is manufacturing in China by,
through or with one or more of the misappropriated Twin-Star Trade Secrets, in breach of
Yue’s contractual obligations to Complainants, and the result of the tortious interference

with contractual relations by Reliap and Whalen.
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217. The effect of the actual and threatened misappropriation of the Twin-Star
Trade Secrets by Proposed Respondents, the other acts of unfair competition, including
the breach of contract by Yue, and the tortious interference with contractual relations by
Reliap and Whalen has been and is to unfairly provide the Proposed Respondents with
significant competitive advantages and, in the process, substantially and irreparably
injure, threaten substantial and irreparable injury to and create a tendency to substantially
and irreparably injure Twin-Star’s domestic industry at least as follows: (a) diminished
secrecy or confidentiality of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets and the Proposed Respondents’
rapid entry into the U.S. electric fireplace products market, which, in turn, have forced,
are forcing and/or will force at least Twin-Star to compete against unauthorized use of
Twin-Star’s very own intellectual property in the United States; (b) through the Proposed
Respondents’ targeting of Twin-Star’s customers, significant reduction or reasonably
likely significant reduction in sales of Twin-Star’s electric fireplace products in the
United States; (c) correspondingly significant reduction or reasonably likely significant
reduction in Twin-Star’s revenue; and (d) likely lowering of electric fireplace product
prices by Twin-Star, which lowering of prices will significantly impair, for example,
appropriate returns on significant investments and the ability to continue to employ and
maintain currently assembled and configured domestic work forces.

218. By way of example, the misappropriation of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets,
Yue’s breach of certain contractual provisions necessary to prevent unfair competition,
and Reliap and Whalen’s tortious interference with contractual relations have resulted in
injury to Complainants in the form of at least one substantial lost sale to a large national

retailer. Confidential Exhibit 24.
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219. Information pertaining to Twin-Star’s profit-and-loss information and
pricing of electric fireplaces is contained in Confidential Exhibit 29.

220. Unless the Proposed Respondents are ordered to refrain from using and/or
disclosing all confidential information, there is a substantial likelihood that Twin-Star
will be irreparably injured through the use and disclosure of its confidential information.

221. Unless the Proposed Respondents are ordered to cease soliciting Twin-
Star’s customers, there is a substantial likelihood that Complainants will be irreparably
injured through the continued wrongful solicitation of their customers.

222. Unless Whalen is ordered to cease soliciting Twin-Star’s customers and
tortiously interfering with Twin-Star's contractual relationship with Yue, and to further
cease tortiously interfering with Twin-Star’s business relations with its customers, there
is a substantial likelihood that Complainants will be irreparably injured through the
continued wrongful acts and unfair compeﬁtion of Whalen.

223. By reason of the Proposed Respondents’ acts complained of herein,
Complainants have suffered and continue to suffer monetary damages in an amount to be
determined.

224. The Proposed Respondents’ wrongful conduct has deprived Complainants
of goodwill and injured Complainants’ relationship with retailers, distributors and the |

public.

XIII. REQUEST FOR RELIEF
"WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, TS Investment Holding Corp. and
Twin-Star International, Inc. respectfully request that the United States International

Trade Commission:
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(A) Institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff
Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, into Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd’s,
Yue Qiu Sheng, a.k.a. Jason Yue’s, and Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc.’s unlawful
activity, including importation into the United States, sale for importation into the United
States and sale within the United States after importation of electric fireplace products
that are manufactured, imported and sold as a result of the misappropriation of certain
Twin-Star trade secrets, the infringement of Twin-Star’s registered copyrights, breach of
contract, and/or tortious interference with contractual relations.

(B)  Set atarget date of not more than twelve months from the publication of
the Notice of Investigation in the Federal Register;

(C)  Determine that Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd, Yue Qiu Sheng, a.k.a.
Jason Yue, and Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc. have violated and are violating
Section 3370f the Tariff Act of 1930;

(D)  Pursuant to Section 337(d) of the Tariff Act of 1930, issue an exclusion
order excluding ffom entry into and sale within the United States: (a) all Reliap Electric
Fireplaces actually or threateningly manufactured by, through or with one or more of the
Twin-Star Trade Secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (b) all Reliap
Electric Fireplaces sold by or through the use of one or more of Twin-Star’s trade secrets
without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (c) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that infringe
Twin-Star’s registered copyrights; (d) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that manufactured,
imported and sold as a result of Yue’s breach of contract; () all Reliap Electric
Fireplaces that are manufactured, imported and sold as a result of Reliap or Whalen’s

tortious interference with Twin-Star’s contractual relations; and (f) all components of the
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foregoing Reliap Electric Fireplaces and products to or of which any of the foregoing
Reliap Electric Fireplace are attached, mounted or a part;

(E)  Pursuant to Section 337(f) of the Tariff Act of 1930, issue a cease and
desist order prohibiting Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd, Yue Qiu Sheng, a.k.a. Jason
Yue, Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc., and all of their respective parents, affiliates,
subsidiaries, related entities, successors, assigns, officers, agents, servants, employees
and attorneys and all other persons who are in active concert or participation with any of
the foregoing persons from marketing in the United States; offering for sale in the United
States, importing into the United States and selling, advertising, promoting, shipping,
distributing, warehousing or otherwise transferring within the United States: (a) all Reliap
Electric Fireplaces actually or threateningly manufactured by, through or with one or
more of the Twin-Star Trade Secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (b) all
Reliap Electric Fireplaces sold by or through the use of one or more of Twin-Star’s trade
secrets without Twin-Star’s express authorization; (c) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that
infringe Twin-Star’s registered copyrights; (d) all Reliap Electric Fireplaces that
manufactured, imported and sold as a result of Yue’s breach of contract; (¢) all Reliap
Electric Fireplaces that are manufactured, imported and sold as a result of Reliap or
Whalen’s tortious interference with Twin-Star’s cbntractual relations; and (f) all
components of the foregoing Reliap Electric Fireplaces and products to or of which any
of the foregoing Reliap Electric Fireplace are attached, mounted or a part;

(F)  Issue an order instructing Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd, Yue Qiu
Sheng, a.k.a. Jason Yue, and Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc. to immediately and

verifiably turn over to Complainants all documents and things, whether an original or
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copy, in paper, electronic or other form or in draft, prototype or final form, that: (i) are in
the possession, custody or control of Shenzhen Reliap Industrial Co., Ltd, Yue Qiu
Sheng, a.k.a. Jason Yue, and/or Whalen Furniture Manufacturing Inc. and (ii) contain or
embody one or more of Complainants’ trade secrets or any information derived from or
based on one or more of Complainants’ trade secrets; and

(G)  Issue such other and further relief as the United States International Trade
Commission deems just and proper based on the facts determined by the investigation
and the authority of the United States International Trade Commission.

Respectfully submitted

Dated: December 13, 2011 ;’\ —
Michadl P. Chu
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